DO NOT REMOVE  
FROM FILE

## **I. Assignments of Error**

The Circuit Court erred in denying Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration for the following reasons:

1. The Circuit Court erred in holding that the Arbitration Provision was unconscionable without specifically finding substantive unconscionability.
2. The Circuit Court erred in holding that the Arbitration Provision was procedurally unconscionable.
3. The Circuit Court erred in holding that the Arbitration Provision was substantively unconscionable, to the extent it reached such a holding.

## **II. Statement of the Case**

In January of 2016, Plaintiff walked into the Luxor Hotel and Casino in Las Vegas, Nevada. (App. pp. 1, 40). Although Defendants are unaware of the entire reason for Plaintiff's visit to the Luxor, one reason was undoubtedly to gamble in the Luxor's casino. (App. pp. 40; 42-48; 50-51). To facilitate her gambling, Plaintiff wanted a quick and streamlined way to access the funds she would use. To that end, Plaintiff signed two VIP Preferred Checking Cashing Enrollment Forms (the "Check Cashing Agreements"). (App. pp 42-43; pp 46-47). Each of these Check Cashing Agreements included a binding arbitration provision (the "Arbitration Provision"):

### **9. ARBITRATION**

Any dispute arising out of or relating to the [Terms of Service] or the Services, regarding Global Payments or its Service Providers or any affiliate thereof, shall be finally resolved by arbitration administered by the American Arbitration Association under its Commercial Arbitration Rules, and judgment upon the award rendered by the arbitrator may be entered in any court having jurisdiction. The arbitration will be conducted in the English language in accordance with the United States Arbitration Act. There shall be one arbitrator, named in accordance with such rules. The arbitrator shall decide the dispute in accordance with the substantive law of the state of Florida. The award of the arbitrator shall be accompanied by a statement of the reasons upon which the award is based. Any arbitration arising out of the TOS or the Services shall proceed solely on an individual basis without the right for any claims to be arbitrated on a class action basis or on bases involving claims brought in a purported representative capacity on behalf of others. Claims may not be joined or consolidated unless agreed to in writing by all parties. No award or decision will have any preclusive effect as to

issues or claims in any dispute with anyone who is not a named party to the arbitration.

(App. pp. 43; 47). The Circuit Court declined to enforce the Arbitration Provision because it found it unconscionable. (App. p. 93-94). According to the Circuit Court, Plaintiff “should not be forced to arbitrate an issue” – i.e. her access to funds for gambling – “that has such an impact on her livelihood.” (App. p. 94). The Circuit Court’s Opinion is contrary to West Virginia law.

**A. Background of the Check Cashing Agreements.**

Certegy Check Services, Inc. (“Certegy”) and Complete Payment Recovery Services, Inc. (“CPRS” and collectively “Defendants”) are affiliated companies. Certegy provides risk management services to a wide variety of businesses, (App. p. 39), whereas CPRS provides debt recovery services. (App. p. 49). As part of their respective businesses, Certegy and CPRS both provide services to Global Payments, including assistance in administering the check and Automated Clearing House services Global Payments provides to gaming establishments. (App. pp. 39, 49).

One of the gaming establishments that Global Payments and, in turn, Certegy and CPRS, provides check and authorization services to is the Luxor Hotel and Casino in Las Vegas, Nevada. (App. p. 39). As part of these services, Global Payments provides Luxor customers with the opportunity to sign up for Global Payments’ VIP Preferred Program. (App. p. 39). By signing up for this program, Luxor customers are able to access funds from their bank accounts for gambling by simply showing a valid government-issued identification. (App. p. 39). This streamlines the gambling process because it eliminates the need for customers to repeatedly present paper checks or additional checking account information to utilize their funds. (App. p. 39). Certegy and CPRS are service providers that Global Payments has engaged to assist in administering the VIP Preferred Program. (App. pp. 39. 50).

**B. Plaintiff entered into the Check Cashing Agreements to gain quick access to gambling funds.**

In January and February of 2016, Plaintiff initiated two check transactions at the Luxor Hotel and Casino in Las Vegas, Nevada. (App. pp. 40, 50). Certegy assisted in processing these check transactions on behalf of Global Payments. (App. p. 40). In connection with these transactions, Plaintiff signed up for the VIP Preferred Program by filling out two Check Cashing Agreements. (App. p. 40). Specifically, Plaintiff signed one Check Cashing Agreement on January 31, 2016 so that she could withdraw approximately \$1,000.00 to gamble at the Luxor. (App. p. 40, 42-45). She then signed another Check Cashing Agreement on February 5, 2016 so that she could gamble with an additional \$250.00. (App. p. 40, 46-48). Each of these agreements included the binding Arbitration Provision.

When a Check Cashing Agreement is used in a transaction, it is presented to the customer as a paper document, not in electronic format. (App. p. 40). To proceed with the transaction, the customer must review and physically sign the Check Cashing Agreement. (App. p. 41). An individual cannot become part of the VIP Preferred Program without signing a Check Cashing Agreement. (App. p. 41). Although Plaintiff contends that she does not believe she reviewed the Check Cashing Agreements before signing them, she concedes that the signature on each respective agreement is hers. (App. p. 77). Indeed, the Circuit Court recognized in its Opinion that Plaintiff “signed this agreement.” (App. p. 94). She simply contends that she signed it “in a rushed environment without an opportunity to review any terms.” (App. p. 94).

**C. The Court denied Defendants’ Motion to Compel Arbitration.**

After Plaintiff left the Luxor, she claims that “Defendants began to engage in collection” of the indebtedness she incurred there. (App. p. 2). Based on these collection efforts, she filed a Complaint in the Circuit Court of Mercer County, West Virginia against Defendants on March 30,

2017. (App. p. 1). In the Complaint, Plaintiff alleges a claim under the West Virginia Consumer Credit and Protection Act (“WVCCPA”) and common law invasion of privacy. (App. p. 11, 12).

On August 8, 2017, Defendants filed a Motion to Compel Arbitration based on the two Arbitration Provisions to which Plaintiff agreed in the Check Cashing Agreements. (App. p. 95). Plaintiff filed her response to the motion on September 28, 2017, (App. p. 95), although Defendants did not receive a copy of the filing until the day of the hearing. The Circuit Court held a hearing on the motion on October 2, 2017. At the hearing, the Circuit Court took the motion under advisement. (App. p. 101). Subsequently, the Circuit Court issued a written Order (the “Opinion”) denying the motion on October 4, 2017. In the Opinion, the Circuit Court found that the Arbitration Provision was unconscionable. This is the Opinion from which Defendants appeal.

The Opinion included very little analysis as to how the Arbitration Provision was procedurally and substantively unconscionable. (App. p. 93, 94). As to substantive unconscionability, the Circuit Court found that the Check Cashing Agreements have many “sophisticated terms.” The Circuit Court summarized these terms as follows:

- a) “Wavier [sic] of the benefit of the fee shifting provisions of the WVCCPA due to the election of Florida law;”
- b) “the required selection of Commercial Arbitration Ruels [sic] when the dispute is clearly a consumer dispute” and “the unnecessary designation of Commercial Arbitration Rules when consumer rules exist for this type of claim;” and
- c) “the class wide ban on arbitration arising in an adhesive contract, even if class members have identical claims.”

(App. p. 93, 94). The Circuit Court merely listed these terms as “sophisticated.” It never actually concluded that these terms were substantively unconscionable. (App. p. 93, 94)

As to procedural unconscionability, the Circuit Court held that “[t]here was no real choice or bargaining on the part of the Plaintiff” because “she argues that she signed this agreement in a rushed environment without an opportunity to review any terms.” (App. p. 94). As a result, the

Circuit Court held that the Check Cashing Agreement was not a “bargained for exchange,” Plaintiff is entitled to her “day in court,” and she “should not be forced to arbitrate an issue that has such an impact on her livelihood” (i.e. the collection of money related to gambling). (App. p. 94).

### **III. Summary of the Argument**

This case is another example of a Circuit Court manifesting its hostility to arbitration by invalidating an arbitration agreement based on a theory of unconscionability. Here, the Circuit Court declined to enforce the binding Arbitration Provision because it contained “sophisticated terms” and because Plaintiff claimed she had “no real choice or bargaining” power. In recent years, the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia has repeatedly rejected nearly identical arguments. In doing so, it has re-affirmed the established principle that arbitration agreements should not be discarded lightly on the theory of unconscionability. Yet, that is precisely what the Circuit Court did here. Despite this Court’s case law to the contrary, the Circuit Court cast aside the Arbitration Provision based on paper thin allegations of procedural unconscionability and without *ever* making a finding as to substantive unconscionability. In reaching its decision, the Circuit Court committed reversible error for three separate reasons.

First, to find unconscionability under West Virginia law, a contract must be *both* procedurally and substantively unconscionable. *See* Syllabus Point 20, *Brown v. Genesis Healthcare Corp.*, 228 W.Va. 646, 680, 724 S.E.2d 250 (2011). Here, the Circuit Court never found any portion of the Arbitration Provision substantively unconscionable. Although the Circuit Court’s Opinion listed several provisions that it labeled as “sophisticated terms,” it never concluded that these terms were substantively unconscionable. This constitutes reversible error – a finding of substantive unconscionability is an essential element of an unconscionability claim.

Second, even if the Circuit Court had held that the “sophisticated terms” were substantively unconscionable, that would have been contrary to West Virginia law. As discussed below, not

only is it not unconscionable to have a choice of law provision in an arbitration provision, but the law chosen here provides the very protections for consumers that the Circuit Court claimed were lacking. Moreover, there is nothing unconscionable about an arbitration provision that selects the American Arbitration Association's ("AAA") Commercial Arbitration Rules over the Consumer Arbitration Rules as the governing rules for arbitration. And even if the Circuit Court was justified in preferring the Consumer Arbitration Rules (which it was not), it failed to recognize that the Consumer Rules *would* apply in this case. Further, the Circuit Court's implication that a class action waiver is unconscionable ignores recent law from this Court and the U.S. Supreme Court.

Third, the Circuit Court erred when it found the Arbitration Provision was procedurally unconscionable. The Circuit Court simply adopted Plaintiff's argument that the Arbitration Provision was procedurally unconscionable because it was an adhesion contract that Plaintiff accepted without "real choice." West Virginia law requires Plaintiff to show much more than that to meet her burden of demonstrating procedural unconscionability. Yet, she was unable to make such a showing. Last, to the extent the Circuit Court based its procedural unconscionability finding on its belief that arbitration would have "such an impact on [Plaintiff's] livelihood," that finding is divorced from the facts of this case. This case does not pertain to Plaintiff's livelihood. It pertains to gambling funds Plaintiff withdrew at the Luxor Hotel and Casino in Las Vegas, Nevada.

#### **IV. Statement Regarding Oral Argument and Decision**

Pursuant to Rule 19 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, Defendants respectfully request oral argument before the Court because this matter involves: (1) assignments of error in the application of settled law, (2) a decision that is against the weight of the evidence; and (3) a decision involving a narrow issue of law. Defendants believe that this case is appropriate for a memorandum decision.

## V. Argument

### A. Standard of Review

This Court recently held that “[a]n order denying a motion to compel arbitration is an interlocutory ruling which is subject to immediate appeal under the collateral order doctrine.” Syllabus Point 1, *Credit Acceptance Corp. v. Front*, 231 W.Va. 518, 525, 745 S.E.2d 556, 563 (2013). And when such an appeal is taken, the review is *de novo*. *See id.* Since the Court’s decision in *Credit Acceptance*, it has consistently followed suit – finding that an order denying a motion to compel arbitration is immediately reviewable under a *de novo* standard of review. *See W. Va. CVS Pharm., LLC v. McDowell Pharm.*, 238 W. Va. 465, 470 (2017) (holding that an order denying a motion to compel arbitration is subject to immediate appeal that is reviewed *de novo*) (citations omitted); *Citizens v. Telcoms Co. v. Sheridan*, 799 S.E.2d 144, 148 (2017) (finding an order denying a motion to compel arbitration is immediately reviewable) (citations omitted).

### B. The Court Abused its Discretion in Denying the Motion to Compel Arbitration Based on a Theory of Unconscionability

In Defendants’ Motion to Compel Arbitration, they introduced evidence that when a Check Cashing Agreement is used in a transaction, it is presented to the customer prior to signing. (App. p. 40). To proceed with the transaction, the customer must review and physically sign the agreement. (App. p. 41). An individual cannot become part of the VIP Preferred Program without signing the Check Cashing Agreement. (App. p. 41). Although Plaintiff countered Defendants’ motion by arguing that she did not review the Check Cashing Agreements before signing them, she concedes that she affixed her signature. (App. p. 77). Indeed, the Circuit Court accepted that “she signed this agreement” in its Opinion. (App. p. 94). Thus, the fundamental appellate issue is this: Did the Court err when it found, acting out of a desire to ensure Plaintiff’s “day in court,” that the Arbitration Provision was procedurally and substantively unconscionable?

The Court must answer this question in the affirmative. The Circuit Court's Opinion violates established principles of West Virginia law for the following reasons:

- 1) The Circuit Court did not actually find that any term of the Arbitration Provision was substantively unconscionable. A court *must* find substantive unconscionability for the agreement to be unconscionable as a whole.
- 2) The contractual terms that the Circuit Court cited in its Opinion are not substantively unconscionable as a matter of law.
- 3) The Circuit Court's conclusion that the Arbitration Provision was procedurally unconscionable is contrary to established West Virginia law. A plaintiff must show more to invalidate an arbitration agreement than that it was an adhesion contract that resulted from "no real choice."

This Court should reverse the Circuit Court's Opinion, compel the case to arbitration, and stay the case in the Circuit Court pending the outcome of arbitration.

- 1) **The Court did not find any term of the Arbitration Provision was substantively unconscionable. This precludes a finding of unconscionability as a whole.**

The burden of proving that a contract term is unconscionable falls on the party attacking the contract. *Emple. Res. Group, LLC v. Harless*, No. 16-0493, 2017 W. Va. LEXIS 265, at \*8 (W.Va. Apr. 13, 2017) (Memorandum Opinion) (quoting *Brown*, 228 W.Va. at 680). To find unconscionability as a whole, the contract must be *both* procedurally and substantively unconscionable. Syllabus Point 20, *Brown*, 228 W.Va. 646. Procedural and substantive unconscionability need not be present in the *same* degree. *Id.* The more substantive unconscionability that exists in a contract, the less procedural unconscionability that is required for a finding of unconscionability as a whole. *Id.* And vice versa. *Id.* Yet, both must be present in *some* degree. *Id.* at 658.

In the Circuit Court's Opinion, it never concluded that *any* term of the Arbitration Provision was substantively unconscionable. Specifically, the Opinion summarized four elements of the Arbitration Provision that the Circuit Court believed contained "sophisticated terms." The Circuit Court recounted these terms as follows:

- a) “Wavier [sic] of the benefit of the fee shifting provisions of the WVCCPA due to the election of Florida law;”
- b) “the required selection of Commercial Arbitration Ruels [sic] when the dispute is clearly a consumer dispute;”
- c) “the unnecessary designation of Commercial Arbitration Rules when consumer rules exist for this type of claim;” and
- d) “the class wide ban on arbitration arising in an adhesive contract, even if class members have identical claims.”

(App. p. 93-94). But after recounting these terms, the Circuit Court made no further findings as to them. Instead, it simply listed these terms as “sophisticated” and then immediately moved on to a procedural unconscionability analysis. (App. p. 93-94).

Finding a term is “sophisticated” is a far cry from finding it is unconscionable. Indeed, this Court has repeatedly upheld arbitration agreements that included supposedly sophisticated terms. *See, e.g. State ex rel. Ocwen Loan Servicing LLC v. Webster*, 232 W. Va. 341, 361-62 (W. Va. 2013) (enforcing an arbitration agreement that included a class action waiver). Because the Circuit Court never found any of the terms in the Arbitration Provision substantively unconscionable, it committed a fundamental error of law in finding the Arbitration Provision unconscionable as a whole. The failure to find one forecloses a finding of the other. *See, e.g. Nationstar Mortg., LLC v. West*, 237 W. Va. 84, 88 (W. Va. 2016) (citations omitted) (“To conclude that a contractual term is unenforceable on grounds of unconscionability requires a finding that the provision in issue ‘is both procedurally and substantively unconscionable.’”).

- 2) **None of the “sophisticated terms” the Circuit Court summarized are substantively unconscionable. This precludes a finding of unconscionability as a whole.**

Even if the Circuit Court had undertaken a substantive unconscionability analysis of the four “sophisticated terms” discussed above, it could not have concluded that these terms were

substantively unconscionable as a matter of law. And without such a finding, the Circuit Court could not have invalidated the Arbitration Provision.

When assessing substantive unconscionability, a court focuses on “on the nature of the contractual provisions rather than on the circumstances surrounding the contract's formation.” *West*, 237 W. Va., at 92. According to this Court:

Substantive unconscionability involves unfairness in the contract itself and whether a contract term is one-sided and will have an overly harsh effect on the disadvantaged party. The factors to be weighed in assessing substantive unconscionability vary with the content of the agreement. Generally, courts should consider the commercial reasonableness of the contract terms, the purpose and effect of the terms, the allocation of the risks between the parties, and public policy concerns.

Syllabus Point 19, *Brown*, 228 W. Va., at 658. In conducting its analysis, the Circuit Court failed to address any of the factors above. In fact, its Opinion included no substantive analysis as to how any terms in the Arbitration Provision rise to the level of substantively unconscionability. Other court decisions that have addressed similar “sophisticated terms,” however, have soundly rejected the arguments the Circuit Court adopted.

**a) The Florida choice of law provision is not substantively unconscionable.**

The Arbitration Provision includes a choice of law provision stating that “[t]he arbitrator shall decide the dispute in accordance with the substantive law of the state of Florida.” (App. p. 43). In the Circuit Court’s Opinion, it interpreted this term as a “Wavier [sic] of the benefit of the fee shifting provisions of the [West Virginia Consumer Credit and Protection Act] due to the election of Florida law.” (App. p. 93). To the extent this interpretation served as a basis for the Circuit Court’s unconscionability finding, that is legal error. Not only are choice of law provisions commonplace in enforceable arbitration agreements, but the Arbitration Provision *does not* require a waiver of potential fee shifting.

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