•

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

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Circuit Court did not need to reach the issue of unconscionability of the 

arbitration agreement because the Court found that Petitioners failed to prove the 

existence of a contract. Petitioners offered two affidavits to prove the existence of a 

contract. Neither affiant (both employees of Petitioners) were present for the 

transaction, and lack the requisite personal knowledge of any aspect of the 

transaction. 

Ms. Fuller was present when she cashed her convenience checks at the hotel 

and has personal knowledge of the transaction. Ms. Fuller established by affidavit 

that she was not provided the documents which Petitioners claim she signed. She 

testified that she had no notice that she was agreeing to arbitrate any claims, nor was 

any contract referenced or provided during the transaction. The Circuit Court was 
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correct when it found that no contract was proven, let alone, an arbitration clause 

within a contract. 

The arbitration agreement proffered by Petitioners is also substantively and 

procedurally unconscionable. It is procedurally unconscionable because, inter alia, 

it was a contract of adhesion that was never presented to the Respondent in any way. 

It is substantively unconscionable because it prohibits the use of the consumer 

arbitration rules of the American Arbitration Association ("AAA"), and requires the 

use of the commercial business rules which would require Respondent to pay fees 

many times greater than the consumer rules. In addition to the prohibitive fees, Ms. 

Fuller would need a Florida attorney as the arbitration clause requires Ms. Fuller 

give up her protections afforded under West Virginia law and be governed by 

Florida law, notwithstanding that her protection under West Virginia cannot be 

waived. 

The Circuit Court correctly found that Petitioners failed to prove the existence 

of a contract because "[t]here was no evidence presented that shows the Plaintiff 

agreed to the terms of this contract [and] the Court FINDS and CONLCUDES [sic] 

that there was no agreement by the Plaintiff to arbitrate." App. at 93-94. The Circuit 

Court could have stopped there. No more analysis was necessary because Petitioners 

failed to carry their burden of proof. If there is no contract, then there are no terms 
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to analyze. Because Petitioners failed to assign any error to that core finding of the 

Circuit Court, this Court need not analyze tenns of a contract that does not exist. 

The Circuit Court chose to go further, and analyze the tenns of the purported 

agreement, finding them unconscionable. That does not require this Court to make 

the same inquiry where Petitioners failed to prove the existence of a contract. 

Both Circuit Court conclusions are supported by law and the record. This 

court could affinn either finding. But, because Petitioners never assigned error to the 

Circuit court's finding that Petitioners failed to carry their burden of proof as to the 

existence of a contract, this Court could summarily affinn the Circuit Court's Order 

without analyzing the secondary findings related to the temrs of the contract 

Petitioners failed to prove. 

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

Petitioners identify three assignments of error, all of which focus on the 

unconscionability oftenns in an arbitration clause. However, that clause is contained 

within a contract that Petitioners failed to prove. Because Petitioners do not 

challenge this core finding, this appeal should be summarily dismissed because 

tenns contained in a contract that does not exist do not constitute a "controversy" 

for this court. However, to the extent that oral argument is warranted, Respondent 

agrees with Petitioners that Rule 19 argument would be appropriate. 
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IV. ARGUMENT 

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

The parties agree that Petitioners have a right to an interlocutory review of the 

Order entered in Circuit Court denying Defendant's Motion to Compel. To the extent 

that review asks the Court to interpret the terms of a contract, and the legal 

conclusions inherent therein, the parties agree that such a review is conducted under 

a de novo standard. See W Virginia CVS Pharmacy, LLC v. McDowell Pharmacy, 

Inc., 238 W. Va. 465, 469, 796 S.E.2d 574, 578 (2017) ("we apply a de 

novo standard of review to a circuit court's interpretation of a contract." (internal 

citations omitted)). 

However, questions such as whether a contract exists at all, are questions of 

fact, not law. See Brewer v. Hosp. Mgmt. Assocs., Inc., 202 W. Va. 163, 166,503 

S.E.2d 17, 20 (1998) ("While the determination of what constitutes a contract under 

our relevant cases is a question of law, the determination of whether particular 

circumstances fit within the legal definition of a contract under our cases is a 

question of fact." Citing Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 194 W. Va. 52, 63, 459 

S.E.2d 329, 340 n. 18 (1995)). 

In West Virginia, an agreement that is comprised of five (5) fundamental 

elements constitutes a contract. Those elements "... are competent parties, legal 

subject-matter, valuable consideration, and mutual assent. There can be no contract 
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if any of these elements are lacking." Virginian Exp. Coal Co. v. Rowland Land Co., 

100 W. Va. 559, 131 S.E. 253, 262 (1926) (Citing Adams v. Hazen, 123 Va. 304,96 

S. E. 741 (1918)). Here, the Circuit Court made a factual determination that there 

was no agreement between the parties (mutual assent), finding "[t]here was no 

evidence presented that shows the Plaintiff agreed to the terms of this contract." App. 

at 93. 

If Petitioners had challenged this finding of fact, which they did not, such a 

challenge would be reviewed using a "clearly erroneous" standard. Syl. Pt. 4, 

Burgess v. Porterfield, 196 W. Va. 178, 469 S.E.2d 114, (1996). That standard has 

been defined by the Supreme Court as follows: 

Although the meaning of the phrase "clearly erroneous" is not 
immediately apparent, certain general principles governing the exercise 
of the appellate court's power to overturn findings of a district court 
may be derived from our cases. The foremost of these principles, as the 
Fourth Circuit itself recognized, is that "[ a] finding is 'clearly 
erroneous' when although there is evidence to support it, the reviewing 
court on the entire evidence is left with the definite and firm conviction 
that a mistake has been committed." United States v. United States 
Gypsum Co., 333 U.S. 364, 395, 68 S.Ct. 525, 542, 92 L.Ed. 746 
(1948). 

Anderson v. City of Bessemer City, N.C, 470 U.S. 564,573,105 S. Ct. 1504, 

1511,84 L. Ed. 2d 518 (U.S. 1985). 

The Circuit Court's determination that the terms of the purported contract are 

unconscionable are reviewed on a de novo standard. If Petitioners had challenged 
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the Circuit Court's ruling that there was no agreement, that finding would be 

reviewed using a "clearly erroneous" standard. 

B. STATEMENT ON PETITIONERS' ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

All of Petitioners assignments of error direct this court's attention to the 

Circuit Court's findings on unconscionability. Petitioners thereby ignore the Court's 

finding that Petitioners failed to prove the existence of a contract. There are no terms 

to analyze without a contract. This Court should therefore summarily deny this 

appeal due to Petitioners lack of challenge to the core ruling of the Circuit Court: 

"that there was no agreement by the Plaintiff to arbitrate" App. at 94. By not 

assigning error to this core finding, there is no controversy for this Court to consider. 

By not assigning error to the Circuit Court's core ruling that Petitioners failed 

to prove the existence of a contract or addressing that ruling in any substantive way 

in their brief, that issue has been waived for the purposes of appeal Pursuant to Rule 

10(c)(7)2 See Evans v. United Bank, Inc., 235 W. Va. 619,629,775 S.E.2d 500, 510 

(2015) ("We agree with United Bank's argument and conclude that Petitioners fail 

to address the substantive merits of the circuit court's ruling and, thus, the issue has 

been waived for purposes of appeal."). Even if Petitioner had mentioned that it took 

an issue with the Circuit Court's finding that Petitioners failed to prove the existence 

2 "The Court may disregard errors that are not adequately supported by specific references 
to the record on appeal." W. Va. R. App. P. 10. 
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of a contract, which it did not do, argument of such issue would nonetheless be 

waived. Farmer v. Knight, 207 W. Va. 716,722,536 S.E.2d 140, 146 (2000) ("As 

we have previously noted, '[i]t is ... well settled ... that casual mention of an issue in 

a brief is cursory treatment insufficient to preserve the issue on appeal. '" Citing State 

v. Lilly, 194 W.Va. 595,605 n. 16,461 S.E.2d 101, 111 n. 16 (1995)). 

Because Petitioners failed to assign any error to the Circuit Court's core 

finding that no contract exists between the parties, Petitioners are essentially asking 

this Court for an advisory opinion because the terms of a non-existent contract are 

irrelevant to the remaining issues in controversy. "Courts are not constituted for the 

purpose of making advisory decrees or resolving academic disputes. The pleadings 

and evidence must present a claim of legal right asserted by one party and denied by 

the other before jurisdiction of a suit may be taken." F.s.T., Inc. v. Hancock Cty. 

Comm'n, No. 17-0016,2017 WL 4711427, at *3 (WVSCA Oct. 20,2017). 

c. PETITIONERS FAILED TO PROVE THE EXISTENCE OF AN AGREEMENT TO 

ARBITRATE 

Under the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA"), a trial court's task on a motion to 

compel arbitration is limited to answering two simple questions: (1) does a valid 

arbitration agreement exist between the parties, and (2) does the dispute at issue fall 

within the scope of the agreement. See 9 U.S.C. § 2; Mitsubishi Motors Corp. v. 

Soler Cluysler-Plymouth, 473 U.S. 614, 626-28 (1985); Allied-Bruce Terminix Cos. 

v. Dobson, 513 U.S. 265, 273-77 (1995); Chiron Corp. v. Ortho Diagnostic Sys., 
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207 FJd 1126, 1130 (9th Cir. 2000); and Schumacher Homes of Circleville, Inc. v. 

Spencer, 237 W. Va. 379,388,787 S.E.2d 650, 659 (2016). "Courts generally should 

apply ordinary state-law principles governing contract formation in deciding 

whether such an agreement exists. However, courts should not assume that the 

parties agreed to arbitrate arbitrability unless there is "clea[r] and unmistakabl[e]" 

evidence that they did so." First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan, 514 U.S. 938, 

939,115 S. Ct. 1920, 1921, 131 L. Ed. 2d 985 (1995) (Citing AT&T Technologies, 

Inc. v. Communications Workers, 475 U.S. 643, 649, 106 S.Ct. 1415, 1418, 89 

L.Ed.2d 648). 

"[ A ]rbitration is a matter of contract and a party cannot be required to submit 

to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed so to submit." United Steelworkers 

of Am. v. Warrior & GulfNav. Co., 363 U.S. 574, 582, 80 S. Ct. 1347,1353, (1960). 

"[T]o be valid, an arbitration agreement must conform to the rules governing 

contracts, generally .... [T]he subject Arbitration Agreement must have (1) competent 

parties; (2) legal subject matter; (3) valuable consideration; and (4) mutual assent.. .. 

Absent anyone of these elements, the Arbitration Agreement is invalid." State ex 

reI. U-Haul Co. ofW Virginia v. Zakaib, 232 W. Va. 432,439, 752 S.E.2d 586, 593 

(2013) citing State ex reI. AMFM, LLCv. King, 230 W.Va. 471740 S.E.2d 66 (2013). 
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It is well established that the burden to prove the existence of a contract falls 

on the the party attempting to enforce the alleged contract.3 In the case at bar, the 

Circuit Court acknowledged its duty to determine the existence of an enforceable 

agreement to arbitrate, and subsequently found that no contract existed Ms. Fuller 

and Petitioners. "There was no evidence presented that shows the Plaintiff agreed to 

3 See, e.g., Mendez v. Puerto Rican Int'l Companies, Inc., 553 F.3d 709 (3d Cir. 2009) 
(denying employer's motion to stay action pending arbitration as to forty-one employee plaintiffs 
when employer failed to produce evidence they had agreed to arbitration); Gelow v. Cent. Pac. 
Mortg. Corp., 560 F. Supp. 2d 972, 978 (E.D. Cal. 2008) ("The party seeking to enforce an 
arbitration agreement bears the burden of showing that the agreement exists and that its tenns bind 
the other party."); Spaces, Inc. v. RPC Softvvare, Inc., 2007 WL 675505 (D. Kan. Mar. 1, 2007) 
(party seeking to compel arbitration "bears the initial summary-judgment-like burden of 
establishing that it is entitled to arbitration"; competing affidavits on issue of whether parties 
agreed to arbitration created a genuine issue of material fact) (emphasis added); Newman v. 

Hooters of Am., Inc., 2006 WL 1793541, at *2 (M.D. Fla. June 28, 2006) ("Under Defendant's 
reasoning, ifPlaintiffbegan working, then she must have executed an Arbitration Agreement. This 
Court will not rely on 'if, then' scenarios and reverse factual inferences to establish the 
existence of a contract.") (emphasis added); Michelle's Diamond v. Remington Fin. Grp., 2008 
WL 4951032, at *6 (Cal. Ct. App. Nov. 20, 2008) ("[D]efendants have failed to meet their 
burden of demonstrating the existence of an enforceable arbitration agreement. 
Consequently, plaintiffs' burden to establish a defense to arbitration did not arise.") 
(emphasis added); Siopes v. Kaiser Found. Health Plan, Inc., 312 P.3d 869,881 (Haw. 2013) 
("The burden was on Kaiser, as the party moving to compel arbitration, to demonstrate that 
Michael mutually assented to the arbitration agreement."); NCO Portfolio Mgmt. Inc. v. Gougisha, 
985 So. 2d 731 (La. Ct. App. 2008) (denying petition to confinn arbitration awards against alleged 
debtors on grounds that unsigned, generic, "barely legible" copies of arbitration agreements 
without any supporting documents tying them to specific consumers were insufficient to prove 
existence of agreement to arbitrate); Frankel v. CiticOJp Ins. Services, Inc., 913 N.Y.S.2d 254 
(App. Div. 201 0) (denying motion to compel arbitration when credit card issuer "failed to 
demonstrate that the parties agreed to arbitration because the evidence was insufficient to 
establish" that creditor had mailed the arbitration clause to plaintiff) (emphasis added); In re 
Advance EMS Services, Inc., 2009 WL 401620, at *3 (Tex. App. Feb. 12,2009) (employer who 
submitted unsigned, undated copy of arbitration policy, without direct evidence that employee had 
acknowledged receipt of policy, "has not carried its burden to show the existence of a valid 
arbitration agreement") (emphasis added). See also Guidotti v. Legal Helpers Debt Resolution, 
L.L. c., 716 F.3d 764 (3d Cir. 2013) (When a party opposing arbitration comes forth with reliable 
evidence that she did not intend to be bound by arbitration agreement, court must decide motion 
to compel arbitration under summary judgment standard). 
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the terms of this contract." App at 93. "Because the law of contract formation in 

West Virginia is what governs, the Court FINDS and CONLCUDES [sic] that there 

was no agreement by the Plaintiff to arbitrate." App. at 94. 

Petitioners assign no error to this finding, and any discussion related to the 

terms of the purported contract is therefore purely academic. This Court need not 

undertake the same analysis because Petitioners without a contract, there is no 

controversy as to the alleged terms therein. 

1. Petitioners Attempts to Prove the Existence of a valid and 
Enforceable Contract were entirely Insufficient as a Matter of Law 

As previously addressed, the burden to prove the existence of a contract lies 

solely with the party seeking to enforce the contract and a summary judgment 

standard is applied. Petitioners failed to carry that burden. 

In support of their Motion to Compel, Petitioners proffered two (2) affidavits 

of their employees: Ron whyte, employed by Petitioner Certegy Check Services, 

Inc.; and Ann Akins, employed by Complete Payment Recovery Services, Inc. App. 

at 38-48 and 49-51. Rule 56( e) dictates the essential elements of what an affidavit 

must contain to be considered by a Court on a Summary Judgment Motion: 

(e) Form of Affidavits; Further Testimony; Defense Required. 
Supporting and opposing affidavits shall be made on personal 
knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in 
evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to 
testify to the matters stated therein. Sworn or certified copies of all 
papers or parts thereof referred to in an affidavit shall be attached 
thereto or served therewith. 
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W. Va. R. Civ. P. 56. Because neither of Petitioners' affidavits come from an 

individual physically present for the transaction at issue, as opposed to Respondent, 

Petitioners' testimony is necessarily limited to the documents. Petitioners' witnesses 

could not have any personal knowledge of a transaction for which they were not 

present. Petitioner's counsel admitted as much at the hearing, arguing to Judge Wills 

that "first of all when you urn, submit affidavits at this stage, the business affidavits, 

they don't have to be related on a personal knowledge." App. at 100 (emphasis 

added). Such a claim is nonsense, and unsupported by any rule or law. 

A. The Affidavit of Ron Whyte is Deficient

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